
Collaborative Workspace Program – June 7, 2019 RFP – Questions and Answers 

 

1) Nonprofit owns a storefront that would be perfect for a new social enterprise collaborative 
that's committed to the neighborhood. Building doesn't need anything in the way of specialized 
build-out for it to be functional for the social enterprise, but it has been boarded up for years and 
needs serious repairs (basically a top to bottom renovation). Would this work be eligible under 
Collaborative work space grant? If so would a written quote from contractor for the needed work 
be what you would require for a fit-out grant application? Or how detailed exactly does that 
piece have to be? Depending on how expensive it is to come up with that piece, it may be 
necessary for the nonprofit to start by applying for the seed grant to get that done. If that's the 
case, and they were approved, could they then apply for the fit out grant the following funding 
cycle? 

Answer:  Building renovations are eligible costs for fit-out grant funding assuming that they 
directly benefit an eligible collaborative workspace and its community of members.  A more 
detailed budget will strengthen an application.  An applicant approved for a seed grant in this 
round could come in for a fit-out grant in a subsequent round.  Please note, however, that future 
rounds are not guaranteed and are subject to funding availability. 

2) When application asks for 'equipment costs' does that refer to equipment needed for build out 
or equipment that the users of the space will move into the space? 
 
Answer:  “Equipment costs” in this context refers to equipment that will be brought into the 
space to be used by the community of members of the space.   
 
3) We have a question pertaining to match requirements in this year's RFP:  Are donated 
professional services considered applicable match contributions? For example, could donated or 
discounted design consulting or trade services (such as electrician) that can be 
quantified/certified (such as via a formal quote) and contribute to the project also add to our 
match? 
 
Answer: Donated professional services from licensed, unrelated third-party vendors in good 
standing with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts could be considered for a portion of the 
match if they can be documented, quantified and certified. 
 
4) The applicant is initiating and funding the predevelopment work for a proposed maker space; 
however, this organization may or may not ultimately be the “operator” of the space—the 
predevelopment work includes recommendations for organizational structure and governance. 
How should this be handled in the application? 
 
Answer: The applicant should be the operator of the collaborative workspace or the owner of a 
building that hosts/will host a collaborative workspace. For seed grants, if the operating entity 
has not yet been created, please explain this within the application.  The intended grant recipient 
must be a corporation, LLC, LLP or other form of business organization.  
 



5) We have an agreement on a space that we will be signing a lease on shortly; however, the 
building is in the process of being sold. We’ve met with both the present and future owners and 
we will be receiving a substantial rent discount that we would like to count as matching funds for 
the purposes of this grant. The sale will be finalized well before the grant is to be executed, but 
likely not by the application deadline. Is a commitment letter from the future owner (or a joint 
letter from the present and future owners) guaranteeing our tenancy and rent discount sufficient? 
 
Answer:  Evidence of applicant’s ability to raise the match with sufficient time to close and 
request disbursement of grant funds within the grant period must be provided at the time of 
application through donation commitment letters, signed leases, bank statements or other forms 
acceptable to MassDevelopment.  Matches must be received and in-hand before the grant 
agreement will be executed.  Commitment letters should be sent that document your situation at 
the time of application, but a signed lease will be required before grant execution. 
 
6) We are in the process of securing the space and will likely begin to make improvements while 
also contracting out the predevelopment work funded by the grant. Is the securing of the space 
through rent payments an acceptable use of matching cash contributions or is this considered 
outside the scope of the project? 
 
Answer: Rent payments made by a space cannot be counted toward the matching requirement. 
 
7) How fine-grained do we need to get for the budget, scope of work, and timeline? 
 
Answer: Your operating and capital budgets, scopes of work and project schedule should be as 
detailed as possible. 
 
8) There is reference to “documentation of consultant and vendor qualifications”—what 
specifically is required? 
 
Answer: It will depend upon the specific circumstances, but all contractors, consultants and 
vendors should be licensed (if applicable) and in good standing with the Commonwealth with the 
ability to demonstrate that they have the proven capacity to undertake the work for which they 
are being hired. You should include copies of licenses where applicable as well as narrative 
descriptions of capacity with examples of other projects on which they have worked.  

9) Are there any alternatives to a "signed lease" that would be acceptable? For example, if we are 
in negotiation with landlord but terms will depend on grant funding secured?  

Answer: Evidence of applicant’s ability to raise the match with sufficient time to close and 
request disbursement of grant funds within the grant period must be provided at the time of 
application through donation commitment letters, signed leases, bank statements or other forms 
acceptable to MassDevelopment.  Matches must be received and in-hand before the grant 
agreement will be executed.  Commitment letters should be sent that document your situation at 
the time of application, but a signed lease will be required before grant execution. 



10) Rent comps - What documentation should be included for the rent comparisons? Are nearby 
listings from loopnet sufficient? 

Answer:  These listings can be used if those listings can be shown to be for comparable spaces to 
the proposed collaborative workspace. 

11) In regards to the provision that states,"To show ability to provide match from potential 
foundation support."  Should we include a pending application we submitted to a foundation as a 
possible match in the application or just funds that have been secured already? 

Answer:  Referencing pending applications at the time of application is welcome, but committed 
funds will strengthen an application. 

12) If we have donated equipment, should we include the value of what the equipment would be 
if we were to purchase it new or discounted for how old it is? What's the best way to provide 
documentation for this?  

Answer:  Donated equipment should be depreciated with documentation substantiating its value.  
Final value of the items will be determined by MassDevelopment. 

13) Are we able to be reimbursed for any work completed between when we submit the grant 
application and when we find out about the award? 

Answer: We will not reimburse for any work conducted prior to July 1, 2019. 

14) When submitting for reimbursement, do we have to show that we have spent the equivalent 
match money for each invoice we submit to MassDevelopment? 

Answer: Not necessarily.  It will depend upon your scope of work, and your match.  Prior to 
receiving the final 10% of your grant amount you will have to provide evidence that the entire 
match has been expended on the project. 

15) Are the cost categories we submit for the application "fixed"? In other words, what happens 
if later on we find out that the electrical work will be much more expensive and we need fewer 
funds for the equipment?  Are we able to modify the original list of costs with approval from 
MassDevelopment? 

Answer:  Grantees are allowed to request consideration and application of variances of up to 
15% of their approved budget items that were contemplated within the grant application. 

16) Part of our facility development includes R&D and technical training equipment with 
facilities that will require training programs.  These programs will include internship or other 
technical training in media production, industrial equipment operation, CAD and other design, 
etc.  We intend to make use of a variety of staffing options including those from MassHire and 
the Workforce Development Board to initiate training and career/business plan development 



processes.  In such cases that the trainers’ labor is donated, can we be assured this is considered 
for part of our grant application match? 

Answer: This training as part of your operations would not be eligible to count toward the 
match. 

17) I just wanted to clarify that equipment donated prior to May 1, 2019 cannot be included as 
matching funds? 

Answer:  That is correct.  Equipment donated prior to May 1, 2019 cannot be counted toward 
the match. 

18) Can monthly membership fees be included as matching funds? 

Answer: No, monthly membership fees cannot be included as matching funds. 

19) We are the operator of the collaborative workspace but sublease from another non-profit 
organization.  In total the rent for both non-profits is less than market value.  Would our portion 
of the rent discount still qualify as matching funds? 

Answer: If you can demonstrate the actual rent discount being applied to the collaborative 
workspace sublet space through signed leases, rent comparables and a letter from the landlord 
verifying the discount to the collaborative workspace.  

20) For the Fit-Out grants, I am wondering if only interior space improvements are allowable. 
For example, would roof corrections/improvements be covered by this if the current state of the 
roof impedes performances/activities? 

Answer: We would consider exterior improvements if a direct nexus can be shown between the 
necessity of the contemplated work and its direct benefit to the community of users of the 
collaborative workspace.  

21) For the one-to-one match, could a grant from the local Community Preservation Act Program 
be used if the portion used is not the state-matched portion? 

Answer: Yes, if it can be demonstrated that it is not the state-matched portion. 

22) On Page 2, it states “MassDevelopment will work with the selected grantees to have Grant 
Agreements signees as expeditiously as possible and will require grantees to complete their 
projects and be eligible to receive full disbursement of grant funds by June 30, 2020.“ Does this 
mean that we would be using our own funds first to complete the project and then be reimbursed 
the amount that is promised? 

Answer: Not necessarily.  It will depend upon your scope of work, and your match.  Prior to 
receiving the final 10% of your grant amount you will have to provide evidence that the entire 
match has been expended on the project. 



23) On Page 5, under “Match Requirement” it states, “Matches must be received and in-hand 
before the grant agreement will be executed.” Does this mean that all non-cash and cash 
contributions must be received by the RFP deadline July 12th? Or does it mean they can be 
received until winners are announced in the fall of 2019? 

Answer: Evidence of applicant’s ability to raise the match with sufficient time to close and 
request disbursement of grant funds within the grant period must be provided at the time of 
application through donation commitment letters, signed leases, bank statements or other forms 
acceptable to MassDevelopment.  Matches must be received and in-hand before the grant 
agreement will be executed.   

24) On page 5, under “Match Grant” it states “To qualify toward the match, all non-cash 
contributions to the project must have been received or committed no earlier than May 1, 2019.” 
Does this mean any equipment or materials/non-cash contributions used for our co-working 
space would be disqualified if they were bought or donated before May 1st, 2019? 

Answer: That is correct. 

25) What is the period of time for cash contributions to qualify toward the match? Can any cash 
contributions towards the project count regardless of how far in the past it was received? 

Answer:  Cash contributions in the context of the match means that you have the cash on hand, 
available, and set-aside specifically for the project.  We will not reimburse for any work 
performed or paid for prior to July 1, 2019.  

26) On page 6,  above “Evaluation Criteria” it states “Evidence of applicant’s ability to raise the 
match with sufficient time to close and request disbursement of grant funds within the grant 
period must be provided at the time of application through donation commitment letters, signed 
leases, bank statements, or other forms acceptable to MassDevelopment.” Does this mean we 
need to prove that we can match the grant in the future as a part of the application? Or do we 
need to prove that we can match the grant with funds we have already amassed? 

Answer:  Evidence of applicant’s ability to raise the match with sufficient time to close and 
request disbursement of grant funds within the grant period must be provided at the time of 
application through donation commitment letters, signed leases, bank statements or other forms 
acceptable to MassDevelopment.  Matches must be received and in-hand before the grant 
agreement will be executed.   

27) Do capital contributions made towards becoming a partner to join the company and work on 
the project count as cash contributions? If not, if those cash contributions were then used on the 
project to go towards construction of the space or the equipment would that be a qualifying 
match? 

Answer: No, capital contributions made towards becoming a partner would not count.  Cash 
portion of the match must be documented and certified as being held in a financial institution 
and immediately available for use on the project. 



28) In 2018 we were awarded a Fit-out grant which has been incredibly helpful, but there is still 
much more work to be done - would applying for another fit-out grant be appropriate? 

Answer: If an applicant has previously received a grant under the Collaborative Workspace 
Program, the previous project must have been completed, funds must have been fully disbursed, 
and an annual report must have been sent to MassDevelopment. 

29) In 2018 we received a grant from the local Cultural Council which is an arm of the Mass 
Cultural Council. Can you confirm if this falls into the "non-State grant funds" category? Can we 
use this as matching funds? 

Answer: This funding would not count toward matching funds. 

30) With regards to rent discount, there is a statement in this paragraph that states "Applicants 
that have previously been awarded a cowork grant may not use the same rent discount that 
matched any previous award". In our 2018 grant application, we claimed 1 year of rent discount 
2018-2019. In the 2019 application, if we claim 1 year of rent discount 2019-2020, would this be 
allowable? How would moving to a new location in 2019 affect your answer to this question? 

Answer: Yes this would be allowable if you can clearly show that the discount has not been 
applied previously.  Moving to a new location would not affect this response. 

31) With regards to the fit-out application form, are there word limits on any of the text boxes? 

Answer:  While there is no stated word limit, answers should be concise and responsive to the 
question presented. 

32) With regards to the fit-out application form, can we type the answers in a word document 
and reference them in the text box, for example, "BRIEFLY - How do you describe your space to 
others? See document "Sample.pdf"" 

Answer: While that is permitted, the submitted document should correspond exactly to the 
questions in the applications attached to the RFP – list the question, and the answer. 

33) I see that non-cash donations after May 1, 2019 cannot be counted toward matching money. 
We have a regular weekly donation from a donor - how many weeks of this donation can we 
count forward? Can we include all of the weekly donations during the proposed project period of 
July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020? 

See answer under question 35. 

34) Again in regards to cash donations, we have planned a fundraising yard sale for September, 
2019, and we have strong records from past fundraisers to very accurately estimate the income 
that we might expect. Can we include this future cash income toward our matching funds? 

See answer under question 35. 



35) Again in regards to cash donations, we have planned local fundraisers for August and 
December 2019 with unknown fundraising potential. If we estimate $2000, for example, but only 
raise $1000, what is the effect on our grant? Are we allowed to estimate fundraising from events 
yet to happen? 

Answer to 33-35:  Prior to executing a grant agreement cash matches must be in hand, 
documented and set aside for the same project costs for which the grant is sought. There must be 
evidence that the cash is being held in a financial institution and immediately available for use 
on the project.  Future donations will not count toward the match. 

36) What about in kind contributions of hourly wages for, say, an electrical engineer that 
contributes 20 hours of time to the teaching and planning for an electronics class. During his day 
job, he gets a rate of $28/hour when he engages in this profession. Can we claim $560 in in-kind 
contributions as a result of his consultation/services? 

Answer:  The in-kind contribution described above would not count toward the match. 

 


